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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
THERESA RUSSELL, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
CHATSWORTH DEVONSHIRE AT PGA, 
 
     Respondent. 
                                                                  / 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 19-1048 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

Pursuant to notice, a hearing was conducted in this case pursuant to 
sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes (2019),1 before Cathy M. 
Sellers, an Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings ("DOAH"), on February 5 through 7, 2020, in Delray 
Beach, Florida.  

 

APPEARANCES 
For Petitioner:     Kenneth P. Carman, Esquire 
                              Carman, Beauchamp, Sang & Gonzalez, P.A. 
                              3335 Northwest Boca Raton Boulevard 
                              Boca Raton, Florida  33431-6623 
 
For Respondent:  Paul F. Penichet, Esquire 
                              Naveen Paul, Esquire 
                             Jackson Lewis P.C. 
                              One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3500 
                              Two South Biscayne Boulevard 
                              Miami, Florida  33131 

 

                                                
1 All Florida Statutes references are to the 2019 version.   
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 
The issues in this case are whether Respondent engaged in an unlawful 

employment practice by discriminating against Petitioner on the basis of her 
disability, in violation of section 760.10, Florida Statutes, and if so, the 
remedy to which Petitioner is entitled.  

 
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about April 25, 2018, Petitioner, Theresa Russell, filed an 

Employment Complaint of Discrimination ("Charge of Discrimination") with 
the Florida Commission on Human Relations ("FCHR"), alleging that she was 
discriminated against pursuant to the Florida Civil Rights Act ("FCRA"). 

Respondent submitted its position statement to FCHR on June 18, 2018. 
FCHR conducted an investigation, and on February 4, 2019, issued a 
Determination: No Reasonable Cause, finding that no reasonable cause 

existed to determine that Respondent had committed an unlawful 
employment practice against Petitioner.   

 
On or about February 18, 2019, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief 

("Petition") with FCHR, and the Petition was referred to DOAH to conduct an 
evidentiary hearing pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). The final 
hearing initially was set for April 22, 2019, but pursuant to good cause, was 

ultimately continued to, and conducted on, February 5 through 7, 2020.   
 
Petitioner testified on her own behalf and presented the in-person 

testimony of Christine Zelles and Kelley Whitt. Petitioner's Exhibits 1 
through 31 were admitted into evidence without objection. Respondent 
presented the testimony of Petitioner, Christine Zelles, Kelley Whitt,  

Aixa Stacy, Julie Perry, and Lisa Izquierdo. Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 
111, which incorporated Petitioner's Exhibits 1 through 31, were admitted 
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into evidence without objection. The parties stipulated to the admission of the 
deposition testimony of Petitioner, Kimberly Prosser, David Worley,  

Dr. Stephanie Rikhy, Dr. Mark Chepak, Maria Fitos, Denise Gonzalez, 
Dosher Peter, and Kendra Sapp. The transcripts of these depositions were 
admitted as part of the parties' exhibits. 

 
The five-volume Transcript of the final hearing was filed with DOAH on 

February 21, 2020. Pursuant to motion, the deadline for filing proposed 

recommended orders was extended to April 17, 2020. The parties' Proposed 
Recommended Orders were timely filed and duly considered in preparing this 
Recommended Order. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. The Parties 

 1. Petitioner is a former employee of Respondent. She was employed by 
Respondent as the director of social services at its Chatsworth Devonshire at 
PGA ("Chatsworth") rehabilitation facility from November 2, 2015, until she 
resigned, effective July 20, 2017. Petitioner has a Master of Social Work 

degree with over 20 years of experience as a social worker, and is licensed by 
the State of Florida as a Licensed Clinical Social Worker ("LCSW"). At the 
time of her resignation, Petitioner was 61 years old.  

2. Respondent operates Chatsworth, which is a community providing 
assisted living, long-term care, and rehabilitation services. Respondent is 
licensed by the State of Florida and is owned and operated by Erickson 

Living, an entity that develops and manages senior care facilities and 
communities.  
II. Stipulated Facts 

 3. Petitioner began her employment at Chatsworth on November 2, 2015. 
 4. On March 2, 2017, Respondent approved Petitioner's request for leave 
under the Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA").  



4 

 5. On May 30, 2017, Respondent returned to work at the Facility.  
 6. Petitioner submitted a letter resigning from her position on July 20, 

2017.  
     7. Petitioner filed her Charge of Discrimination on April 25, 2018.  
II. The Petition for Relief 

 8. On or about February 4, 2019, FCHR issued a Determination: No 
Reasonable Cause, stating that it had concluded its investigation of the 
Employment Complaint of Discrimination and found that no reasonable 

cause existed to believe that an unlawful employment practice had occurred.   
 9. Petitioner filed her Petition with FCHR on or about February 18, 2019. 
 10. In her Petition, Petitioner alleged that she was subjected to "adverse 

conduct" against her when she requested FMLA leave.   
 11. She alleged that she was suspended from her employment without 
being provided a reason or explanation. 

 12. She also alleged that she was degraded in front of her co-workers for 
seeking leave for a psychiatric issue, and that in meetings, co-workers joked 
about her being "crazy" and questioned whether she would be competent to 
return to work. 

 13. Petitioner alleged that while she was out on FMLA leave, she was 
continuously harassed, which exacerbated her anxiety and depression. 
 14. She alleged that while she was on leave, her assistant was reduced to 

a half-time employee, and that upon her return to work, Respondent advised 
her that she no longer would have an assistant. Petitioner alleged that she 
then became responsible for handling insurance issues, and that Respondent 

refused to train her or provide the information she needed to perform that 
responsibility.  
 15. She also alleged that she was belittled at every staff meeting due to 

having taken medical leave "for a mere psychological reason which [the 
administrator] did not believe was necessary." 
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 16. Considered in its most favorable light, the Petition alleges that 
Respondent discriminated against Petitioner on the basis of her disability by 

creating a hostile work environment that led to her constructive discharge 
through her resignation from employment with Respondent.  
IV. Evidence Adduced at the Final Hearing 

Petitioner's Disability 
 17. Petitioner has been diagnosed as having anxiety and depression, and 
has been treated for these conditions over an extended period of time by a 

psychiatrist and a psychotherapist.  
 18. Petitioner also has been diagnosed as having Attention-Deficit/ 
Hyperactivity Disorder ("ADHD").  

 19. Petitioner was treated by a psychiatrist from June 2016 to January 
2020, and intermittently received peer support from a psychotherapist from 
approximately 2010 to 2019. Thus, Petitioner received psychiatric treatment 

and peer support during, and subsequent to, her employment at Chatsworth. 
 20. Petitioner's treatment includes taking medications to help address 
chronic anxiety and depression, and undergoing psychotherapy. Additionally, 
Petitioner has received transcranial magnetic stimulation ("TMS") to treat 

her depression.2   
 21. As more fully discussed below, the evidence establishes that even with 
medication and the medical and psychotherapeutic treatment Petitioner was 

receiving, her anxiety and depression were exacerbated by the difficult 
working conditions at Chatsworth beginning in early 2016. Although 
Petitioner was very proficient at her job, these conditions nonetheless 

interfered with her ability to perform her job responsibilities while at 
Chatsworth. 
 22. Petitioner's treating physicians testified that her medical condition is 

chronic and is subject to exacerbation by stressful circumstances, such as 

                                                
2 This is a mild form of electroconvulsive therapy. 
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difficult working conditions. As discussed below, Petitioner no longer is able 
to work.  

 23. Subsequent to her resignation from Chatsworth, Petitioner applied 
for, and has been granted, total disability benefits by the Social Security 
Administration.   

Pertinent Employees and Chain of Command at Chatsworth 
 24. As previously noted, during the time Petitioner was employed by 
Respondent, she served as the director of social services at Chatsworth and 

reported directly to the facility's administrator. 
 25. When Petitioner was first employed by Respondent in November 2015, 
she directly reported to interim administrator Jerry McDonald.  

 26. In early 2016, Lisa Izquierdo became the administrator of Chatsworth, 
a position that she held at the time of the final hearing in this proceeding. 
When Izquierdo became administrator, she became Petitioner's direct 

supervisor.  
 27. Kelley Whitt served as the director of Human Resources ("HR") for 
Chatsworth until August 2017, when she resigned from that position. Whitt 
was the HR director at the time Petitioner was temporarily suspended while 

an investigation of Kimberly Prosser's resignation was investigated, and at 
the time Petitioner resigned from her employment at Chatsworth.   
 28. Aixa Stacey was the HR manager when Petitioner was employed with 

Chatsworth, and she held that position at the time of the final hearing in this 
proceeding.  
 29. Kimberly Prosser was employed in a part-time position as a social 

worker while Petitioner was employed at Chatsworth, and Petitioner was her 
immediate supervisor. Petitioner and Prosser shared the same office. Prosser 
resigned from her employment at Chatsworth on or about February 23, 2017.  

 30. Christine Zelles served as the director of social services at Chatsworth 
immediately before Petitioner was hired for that position. Zelles stepped 
down from that position because it was very time-consuming. She served as 
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an administrative assistant to Izquierdo until approximately April 2016, 
when she resigned from her employment at Chatsworth.  

 31. During Petitioner's employment tenure at Chatsworth, David Worley 
was a risk manager and quality improvement/quality assurance nurse at 
Chatsworth. At the time of the final hearing, he was the staff development 

coordinator, assisted living manager, and clinical coordinator for the memory 
care neighborhood at Chatsworth.  
 32. During Petitioner's employment at Chatsworth, and at the time of the 

final hearing, Maria Fitos was the managing director of Liberty of West Palm 
Beach ("Liberty"), an independent contractor that provided health-related 
services to residents at Chatsworth. Although Liberty is an independent 

home health services provider, it is co-located within the Chatsworth 
residential facility, and Chatsworth is its largest client.  
Respondent's Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Retaliation Employment Policies 

33. Respondent has adopted anti-discrimination, anti-harassment, and 
anti-retaliation policies prohibiting employment discrimination based on a 
range of protected classes, including being disabled; providing reasonable 
accommodations; providing a procedure for employees to report 

discriminatory employment practices; and establishing an investigative 
process for discriminatory employment practice complaints. These 
employment policies, including Respondent's anti-discrimination policies, are 

available to employees on the internet and through request to the employee's 
supervisor.  

34. Respondent also has implemented a process, termed its "Problem-

Solving Procedure," under which an employee can report and discuss 
employment-related issues with his or her supervisor, or go further up the 
chain of command, including to the administrator or executive director. This 

procedure expressly proscribes retaliation against employees who avail 
themselves of the procedure in an effort to resolve employment-related 
matters.  
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 35. Additionally, Respondent has established a compliance hotline, 
through which an employee can report to the corporate office, anonymously or 

by providing his or her name, any employment issues, including alleged 
discrimination, that the employee may have encountered.  
Working Conditions at Chatsworth and Effect on Petitioner 

 36. In late 2016, Erickson Living made the corporate business decision to 
restructure Chatsworth to reduce the census—i.e., number of beds—in 
different areas of the community. In connection with this restructuring, 

employees were notified that there would be layoffs, and multiple employees 
were laid off.   
 37. This restructuring had several negative effects. The evidence shows 

that, in general, most, if not all, of the employees at Chatsworth were under a 
great deal of stress because they were afraid of being laid off and because 
they were required to shoulder greater workloads and responsibilities due to 

the layoffs.  
 38. Before the restructuring, the social work department at Chatsworth 
consisted of two full-time positions and one part-time position. Petitioner was 
the director and occupied a full-time position, Kristin Brown was employed in 

the other full-time position, and Prosser was employed in the part-time 
position.  
 39. The social work department's typical responsibilities consisted of 

conducting assessments of social service needs of residents during their stay 
at Chatsworth; arranging for and fulfilling of those service needs during 
residents' stay at Chatsworth and after they were discharged; working on 

care plans for the residents; reviewing advance directives with residents; 
counseling; completing state-required paperwork and insurance coverage 
documentation; and working with the rehabilitation department regarding 

the provision of rehabilitation services to residents during their stay at 
Chatsworth. The social work department also was involved in discharge and 
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admission planning, including dealing with some insurance and Medicare 
coverage matters for residents. 

 40. The credible, persuasive evidence shows that as employees were laid 
off and positions remained unfilled at Chatsworth, corners were cut in the 
delivery of services to patients in several areas, and Petitioner and Prosser, 

as well as others on the staff, were tasked with taking care of matters, such 
as room changes, that ordinarily would not be considered part of their job 
responsibilities. As a result, staff morale at Chatsworth declined.  

 41. Shortly before Chatsworth began to lay off employees, Brown resigned, 
leaving the social work department staffed by only Petitioner and Prosser. 
Brown's position was not filled. As a result, Petitioner and Prosser each had 

substantially more work to do, even without the additional, non-social work 
related tasks, such as bed/room changes, for which they de facto became 
responsible.  

 42. Petitioner and Prosser both found that the additional workload left 
them unable to fully or carefully complete many of their social work-related 
responsibilities. Both found the situation extremely stressful.  
 43. The persuasive evidence establishes that Petitioner was deeply 

invested in her work and took her employment position as a social worker 
very seriously. She cared greatly for the well-being of the patients entrusted 
to her care, both while they were at Chatsworth and when they were 

discharged and went home. She desired to provide high quality services to 
those entrusted to her care and zealously advocated for the rights and well-
being of her patients, by email and in-person at staff meetings.  

 44. Both Petitioner and Prosser testified, persuasively, that they felt as if 
their concerns about patient well-being often were brushed off or minimized 
by the Chatsworth administration, particularly Izquierdo. Petitioner testified 

that because she and Prosser were overworked, she would try to get 
clarification regarding priorities from Izquierdo, as her supervisor. 
However, Izquierdo would often tell her and Prosser to "drop it" or to "move 
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on" when they sought direction or advocated for a specific right or service for 
a patient.  

 45. In Petitioner's and Prosser's view, this had a negative effect on the 
patients in question, and both Petitioner and Prosser were concerned—not 
only for the well-being of the patients, but also that the compromised care 

they were forced to render may violate the standard of care they were 
required to adhere to under their LCSW licensure.3  
 46. Petitioner testified that she often was the object of derogatory 

comments by Izquierdo at staff meetings, and that Izquierdo belittled her or 
blamed her in front of her coworkers for matters with which she had little or 
nothing to do.   

 47. The evidence established that, in general, the working conditions at 
Chatsworth under Izquierdo's administration were difficult and challenging, 
and that many Chatsworth employees experienced substantial stress as a 

result of the impending staff cuts, being overworked, and Izquierdo's "tough" 
management style.   
 48. The evidence does not establish that these stressful working 
conditions and Izquierdo's brusque demeanor only applied to, or were 

directed at, Petitioner or others who were disabled. To the contrary, the 
evidence showed that many employees at Chatsworth, including those who 
were not disabled, experienced substantial stress due to the difficult working 

conditions. As a result, several employees resigned from their employment at 
Chatsworth. 
 49. Petitioner was under significant stress and felt overwhelmed due to 

the difficult working conditions at Chatsworth. As a result, she experienced 
nausea and stomach problems; was shaky; was unable to concentrate and 

                                                
3 Petitioner noted multiple times at the final hearing that she was concerned that the 
delivery of services to certain patients was so diminished due to downsizing and 
management policies that she, as a licensed social worker, may be subject to discipline for 
violation of the appropriate standard of care with respect to those patients.  
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lacked focus; had difficulty sleeping; often felt on the verge of crying; and 
experienced panic attacks and substantial anxiety.   

 50. Zelles and Prosser both testified that Petitioner appeared to be under 
substantial stress, and that she had told them that she was under a great 
deal of stress and needed relief.  

 51. Petitioner testified that she "let people know that I felt sick all the 
time," that she was having panic attacks, and that "things were just out of 
control for me." She believed that coworkers at Chatsworth noticed that she 

was getting confused and was so overwhelmed that she had difficulty keeping 
things straight.  
Petitioner's Requests for Job-Sharing and Intermittent Medical Leave 

 52. As noted above, with the added responsibilities that Petitioner and 
Prosser had to perform as a result of the staff cuts, Petitioner did not have 
enough time in a day to get her social work-related responsibilities done. She 

sometimes worked more than 40 hours per week in an effort to get her work 
done. The stressful conditions and sometimes-long work hours took a toll on 
Petitioner. Her anxiety and depression were exacerbated by the stressful 
working conditions at Chatsworth. 

 53. In January or early February of 2017, Petitioner asked Whitt if she 
and Prosser could "job share," a work arrangement that would consist of 
them both working approximately 32 hours per week. Petitioner testified that 

she also asked Whitt about taking intermittent leave or working part-time. 
According to Petitioner, Whitt did not respond, so she followed up on her 
requests and ultimately was turned down.  

 54. Whitt testified that she did not recall Petitioner asking for part-time 
hours, leave, or job-sharing, and that in any event, it would have been 
Izquierdo's decision whether to grant such requests.  

 55. Izquierdo denied that Petitioner ever asked her about part-time or job-
sharing arrangements, or intermittent leave.  
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 56. The persuasive evidence establishes that Petitioner told both Whitt 
and Izquierdo that she was stressed and "sick," and that she needed time off 

due to her anxiety and physical health issues. Petitioner acknowledged that 
she never told Izquierdo or Whitt anything specific about her medical 
condition.   

 57. The credible, persuasive evidence establishes that Petitioner did not 
tell Izquierdo, Whitt, or anyone else at Chatsworth that she was disabled.   
 58. Petitioner asserts that Izquierdo knew that Petitioner had several 

doctor appointments, so she knew or should have known that Petitioner was 
sick.  
 59. However, as discussed more fully below, even if Izquierdo knew that 

Petitioner was sick, that is an insufficient factual and legal basis from which 
to infer that Izquierdo knew that Petitioner was disabled. 
Prosser's Resignation and Petitioner's Suspension 

 60. On February 23, 2017, Petitioner informed Izquierdo that she would 
be leaving early that day because she was sick. Izquierdo gave Petitioner 
permission to leave early that day.  
 61. Prosser was not scheduled to work that day, but came into work 

specifically to resign from her employment.4 She did so by sending an email 
to the Chatsworth leadership team, in violation of Chatsworth's policy.  
 62. At the time Prosser sent her email resignation, she and Petitioner 

were in the office they shared. Unbeknownst to Petitioner, the office door was 
locked. Petitioner was busy working on her own matters, and did not know 
that Prosser had sent the email.  

                                                
4 A sweater that had been given to a Chatsworth resident by her family as a Christmas gift 
had gone missing. Prosser had tried to find the sweater and finally had replaced it, then 
sought reimbursement for it, at which point she was admonished by Chatsworth 
administration—specifically, Izquierdo—to drop the matter and not bring it up again. 
According to Prosser, this was the last straw that led to her resignation.  
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 63. The credible evidence establishes that Petitioner had no idea that 
Prosser was going to resign—much less resign by email in violation of 

Chatsworth policy. 
 64. Shortly after Prosser sent the email, Izquierdo and the director of 
nursing at Chatsworth went to Petitioner's and Prosser's office. They escorted 

Prosser out of the facility. Izquierdo and Whitt returned to Petitioner's office, 
told her that she was suspended while circumstances surrounding Prosser's 
resignation were investigated, and sent Petitioner home with the admonition 

to "wait by your phone" while the investigation was conducted.  
 65. Petitioner asked why she was being suspended, but was not given an 
answer. She testified that she believed that her suspension had to do with 

her telling Izquierdo that she was not feeling well and her requests for leave.  
 66. However, she acknowledged that, upon reflection, she also believed 
that her suspension "had to do with Kim because that's the precipitating 

event."   
 67. Chatsworth HR conducted an investigation of the circumstances 
surrounding Prosser's resignation. Izquierdo and Whitt both testified that 
there was a question of whether Petitioner had been involved with Prosser's 

resignation. As Whitt put it, "she was in the locked room with Kim Prosser" 
when Prosser sent the offending email, and she was Prosser's direct 
supervisor, to whom Prosser was supposed to submit her resignation. To that 

point, if Petitioner had been involved in Prosser's sending the email 
resignation in violation of company policy, she may have been subject to 
termination.5  

                                                
5 Chatsworth has a policy providing that employees potentially subject to termination are 
subject to suspension pending completion of an investigation regarding circumstances that 
may warrant termination. The evidence showed that Respondent followed this policy in 
briefly suspending Petitioner while the circumstances surrounding Prosser's resignation, and 
any part Petitioner may have had in that resignation, were investigated.  
 



14 

 68. Ultimately, the investigation showed that Petitioner had not, in any 
way, been involved in Prosser's resignation. She was reinstated to her 

position and paid back pay for the period of her suspension.6   
 69. The persuasive evidence establishes that Petitioner was not suspended 
because she asked for leave or told Izquierdo that she was sick, but, rather, 

was suspended while Chatsworth administration and HR investigated 
whether she was involved in Prosser's resignation.  
 70. Petitioner testified, credibly, that being suspended, and particularly 

not being given a reason for the suspension, was extremely stressful and 
anxiety-inducing.  
Petitioner's FMLA Leave 

 71. On February 28, 2017, Petitioner was reinstated to her position at 
Chatsworth.  
 72. At that time, Petitioner informed Whitt that she was stressed and 

needed to take some time off.  
 73. Whitt told Petitioner to complete and submit her FMLA leave request 
form, along with documentation of need for leave from a treating physician. 
 74. Petitioner had an appointment with her treating psychiatrist,  

Dr. Stephanie Rikhy, on February 28, 2017. Rikhy wrote a note for 
Petitioner's submittal to Chatsworth HR, stating that Petitioner needed a 
medical leave of absence through March 14, 2017, when she had a follow up 

appointment scheduled.  
 75. Rikhy's note did not state the nature of Petitioner's medical condition, 
nor did it state that Petitioner had a disability.   

 76. Immediately following her appointment with Rikhy, Petitioner 
contacted Whitt by email, asking that she be sent the FMLA request 
paperwork.  

                                                
6 Petitioner was suspended for approximately five days. 
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 77. The evidence establishes that Petitioner did not, at that time or any 
other time, inform Whitt of the specific nature of her condition or that she 

had a disability.  
 78. On March 1, 2017, Whitt forwarded Petitioner's request regarding 
FMLA paperwork to her assistant, Aixa Stacy. However, Stacy did not 

immediately provide the FMLA paperwork to Petitioner, so Petitioner 
followed up her initial request with additional emails to Whitt and Stacy, 
requesting to be provided the FMLA paperwork.  

 79. Petitioner received the FMLA paperwork on March 6, 2017,  
approximately one week after she had sent her initial request. She promptly 
submitted her request for FMLA leave, including the doctor's note from 

Rikhy.   
 80. On March 8, 2017, Respondent approved Petitioner's request for 
FMLA leave, commencing on March 6, 2017.  

 81. Initially, Petitioner's leave was approved for two weeks, through 
March 15, 2017. Thereafter, her leave was extended in two-week increments 
through May 26, 2017, pursuant to Rikhy's doctor's notes documenting 
Petitioner's need for continued leave.   

 82. The doctor's notes that Rikhy provided every two weeks did not state 
that Petitioner was disabled.  
 83. In addition to the doctor's notes, Rikhy submitted to Chatsworth HR 

(specifically, to Stacy) a completed Certification of Health Care Provider for 
Employee's Serious Health Condition (Family and Medical Leave Act) form 
("FMLA Certification Form"), documenting that Petitioner had a serious 

medical condition that prevented her from performing work-related tasks 
requiring sustained concentration and interpersonal function.   
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 84. On the FMLA Certification Form, Rikhy estimated the period of 
Petitioner's incapacity for which she took FMLA leave as beginning on 

February 28, 2017, and ending on May 25, 2017.7 
 85. Because Monday, May 29, 2017, was the Memorial Day holiday, 
Petitioner returned to work at Chatsworth on Tuesday, May 30, 2017.  

 86. Petitioner did not, at that time or at any other time, inform Izquierdo, 
Whitt, Stacy, or anyone else at Chatsworth of the specific nature of her 
medical condition, or that she suffered from a disability. 

 87. The completed FMLA Certification Form stated that Rikhy was a 
psychiatrist, and Petitioner was receiving medical treatment consisting of 
psychotherapy and TMS treatment.  

 88. The FMLA Certification Form did not state that Petitioner was 
disabled. 
 89. From the information contained in the FMLA Certification Form, 

Stacy would have been informed that Petitioner was undergoing medical 
treatment by a psychiatrist, and that her treatment included psychotherapy 
and TMS.  
 90. However, the evidence does not establish that Stacy surmised or 

believed that Petitioner had a disability, or that that she shared Petitioner's 
personal health information stated on the FMLA Certification Form with 
anyone else at Chatsworth, including Izquierdo or Whitt. 

 91. While Petitioner was on FMLA leave, she received several calls from 
Chatsworth patients who had been given, or to whom she had given, her cell 
phone number. Many of these calls concerned matters that should have been 

taken care of by others at Chatsworth while Petitioner was on leave. These 
calls made Petitioner concerned that patient needs were not being addressed. 
  

                                                
7 Neither the doctor's notes from Rikhy nor the completed FMLA Certification Form 
identified a need for Petitioner to take intermittent leave. 
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92. The credible evidence also establishes that Fitos called Petitioner a 
few times while she was on leave, ostensibly to check on her and to inquire if 

and when she was returning to work. Fitos denied calling Petitioner while 
she was on leave.8 
 93. Whitt, Stacy, and Izquierdo acknowledged at the final hearing that if 

such calls were made to Petitioner while she was on leave, they would be 
inappropriate and likely a violation of FMLA policy.   
Working Conditions after Petitioner Returned from FMLA Leave 

 94. As stated above, Petitioner returned to work on May 30, 2017.  
 95. For budgetary reasons, Chatsworth's corporate leadership9 had made 
the business decision not to fill the part-time social worker position that was 

vacated when Prosser resigned.  
 96. Thus, even though Petitioner's job title, salary, and the nature of her 
work did not substantially change upon her return from leave, her work load 

substantially increased. Petitioner was effectively forced to shoulder the 
responsibility and workload of two and a half social worker positions. 
 97. In order to facilitate Petitioner's return to work, Chatsworth did, for a 
very short period of time, retain the temporary social worker who had 

performed some of Petitioner's work duties while she was on leave.  
According to Izquierdo, Petitioner was given the option of keeping the 
temporary social worker on staff for a longer period of time, but chose not to 

do so. Petitioner claimed that the temporary worker was only kept on staff for 
four days after her return, and that she was not given the option of keeping 
her for a longer period.    

 98. According to Petitioner, the temporary worker did not perform all of 
her (Petitioner's) work responsibilities, such as conducting care plan 

                                                
8 Fitos was an extremely hostile and uncooperative witness, and her testimony—particularly 
during the latter part of her deposition, when she repeatedly disclaimed any knowledge or 
recollection as a standard response to question after question—generally was not credible. 
  
9 Izquierdo was not involved in that decision. 
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meetings, while Petitioner was out, so Petitioner had a great deal of work to 
catch up on when she returned.    

 99. She felt overwhelmed with the increased workload and the undone 
work on which she was forced to catch up.  
 100. Petitioner was fearful that due to the substantial workload caused by 

staff cuts and the resultant inability to complete everything that needed to be 
done to care for her patients, her LCSW license could be in jeopardy. 
 101. She emailed Izquierdo, seeking guidance regarding work priorities. 

Petitioner testified that she did not receive the guidance she needed, and that 
Izquierdo told her not to email and canceled meetings that Petitioner had 
requested to obtain work priority guidance.  

 102. Petitioner and Izquierdo also engaged in email communications 
regarding Petitioner's efforts to complete tasks that were left undone while 
she was on leave.    

 103. Petitioner contends that, based on these emails, Izquierdo should 
have known that she was overworked and needed help with her workload. 
However, Petitioner acknowledged that she did not ever specifically tell 
Izquierdo that she was overworked or that she needed help.10  

 104. Petitioner also felt that she was given additional work11 beyond her 
traditional social work responsibilities in retaliation for having taken leave.  
 105. No evidence was presented that Petitioner reported discriminatory or 

retaliatory behavior to Izquierdo or anyone else in a management position at 
Chatsworth, or to FCHR or any other employment law enforcement entity.  

                                                
10 A common theme throughout Petitioner's testimony was that she was in constant fear of 
losing her job as a result of staff downsizing and admonitions from Chatsworth management 
to the effect that anyone who rocked the boat may be fired. Petitioner acknowledged that 
these admonitions were made to everyone present at staff meetings, not just to her.  
 
11 According to Petitioner, she was required to assume new insurance-related matters and 
that she had not been trained in how to input the information into the computer. She sought 
Fitos's assistance on occasion. Fitos testified that she believed Petitioner did not know how to 
do her job. 
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 106. Petitioner testified that upon her return, coworkers told her that 
while she was on leave, her medical condition, mental health, and 

competency to perform her job were discussed at staff meetings and in 
conversation among Chatsworth staff.12 However, there is no competent 
evidence showing that such discussions took place. To that point, Petitioner 

acknowledged that she did not personally witness anyone discussing her 
medical condition.  
 107. Petitioner also testified that upon her return from leave, coworkers 

told her that while she was out, some coworkers had placed bets as to 
whether she would return to work. However, there is no independent 
competent evidence showing that staff at Chatsworth placed bets on whether 

Petitioner would return from leave.13 To that point, Petitioner acknowledged 
that she did not witness anyone making bets about her medical condition or 
whether she would return to work.  

 108. Petitioner testified that after she returned from leave, she was 
constantly belittled at staff meetings and blamed for a range of problems and 
issues. However, Prosser and Zelles, both of whom had attended the 
meetings, did not observe these actions, by Izquierdo or anyone else.14 

 109. Petitioner testified, credibly, that the working conditions at 
Chatsworth were so difficult that she began to have a recurrence of the 

                                                
12 Petitioner's testimony regarding these comments was based solely on what she had been 
told by others. No other witnesses, including Zelles and Prosser, testified that such 
discussions had taken place, whether in morning meetings or in conversation in other 
settings at Chatsworth. Thus, there is no competent—i.e., non-hearsay—evidence 
establishing that Petitioner's mental health or competency were discussed during staff 
meetings or in other settings. 
 
13 There is no competent (i.e., non-hearsay) evidence showing that Chatsworth employees 
took bets on whether Petitioner would return to work. 
 
14 Most witnesses who testified by deposition or in person, including Prosser and Zelles, 
stated that they did not recall Petitioner being belittled or humiliated at morning meetings 
by Izquierdo or by anyone else. One witness (David Worley) surmised, on the basis of 
observing one exchange between Petitioner and Izquierdo at a staff meeting, that they did 
not get along. Izquierdo denied that she disliked Petitioner or did not get along with her.  
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anxiety, depression, and other physical symptoms that she had experienced 
before she took FMLA leave.  

 110. Petitioner did not request any additional FMLA or non-FMLA leave. 
 111. Petitioner acknowledged that she did not observe Chatsworth 
administration treating non-disabled employees more favorably than they 

treated her. To this point, she testified that the working conditions at 
Chatsworth were difficult for everyone. 
Petitioner's Resignation 

 112. Petitioner continued to receive medical psychiatric treatment from 
Rikhy and psychotherapy from Chepak after she returned to work.  
 113. She told Rikhy that working conditions at Chatsworth continued to 

be extremely difficult; that she was, again, feeling overwhelmed and stressed; 
and that she was experiencing the anxiety and depression that she had 
experienced before taking leave. 

 114. On the basis of Petitioner's statements to Rikhy regarding the 
difficulty and stress that she was experiencing at work, Rikhy recommended, 
in early July 2017, that Petitioner resign from Chatsworth.15 
 115. Chepak, who was providing psychotherapy to Petitioner while she 

was employed at Chatsworth, also recommended that she resign in order to 
avoid a recurrence of her anxiety and depression. 
 116. Petitioner testified that Fitos also continued to communicate with 

her, telling her that she (Petitioner) was going to be fired. According to 
Petitioner, Fitos urged her to resign so that she could leave in good standing, 
which would be helpful in becoming employed at another facility. Fitos's 

version of events was that she told Petitioner if she couldn't do her job, she 
needed to quit.  

                                                
15 Dr. Joel Klass, another psychiatrist who treated Petitioner after she left her employment 
at Chatsworth, also opined that the extremely difficult working conditions at Chatsworth 
exacerbated Petitioner's anxiety and depression.  
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 117. Petitioner testified, credibly, that Fitos typed up a resignation letter 
for her to sign. Fitos denied having prepared Petitioner's resignation letter.16  

 118. Petitioner signed the resignation letter and provided it to Izquierdo 
on July 20, 2017. Although Petitioner gave three weeks' notice, Izquierdo 
accepted her resignation, effective immediately. Petitioner was paid for the 

three weeks that she had planned to work before her resignation tender 
became effective.  
 119. The evidence established that Petitioner received good employment 

reviews while she was employed at Chatsworth. Izquierdo testified at the 
final hearing that Petitioner was "really good" with the Chatsworth residents 
and "really knew her craft."  

Petitioner's Subsequent Efforts to be Employed 
 120. After her resignation, Petitioner unsuccessfully sought employment 
at other residential rehabilitation facilities in the West Palm Beach area. She 

testified that when she was interviewed, she was asked who her ex-
administrator was, and she was not offered employment in the residential 
rehabilitation facility setting. Thus, she began searching for employment in a 
different setting.  

 121. She obtained part-time employment at a private home health agency 
(Senior Options), working in end-of-life case management. She found that she 
was working many more hours than she was getting paid for, and as a 

consequence, her anxiety returned. She worked at this position for five or six 
weeks before resigning. She testified that she was afraid she would get sick 
again if she continued to work.  

 122. She ultimately concluded that working caused her to experience 
anxiety and to backslide to the point that she got sick again.  

                                                
16 As previously stated, Fitos was not a credible witness. Moreover, in comparing the 
resignation letter to Petitioner's email communications with Izquierdo, it is noted that the 
brief, terse style of the resignation letter is not consistent with Petitioner's more voluble style 
of communication, particularly when communicating with Izquierdo. 
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 123. At the advice of her physicians, Petitioner applied for, and was 
granted, total disability benefits from the Social Security Administration. She 

receives such benefits on a monthly basis.  
 124. At the time of the final hearing, Petitioner was not employed.  
Relief Requested 

 125. In her responses to Respondent's interrogatories and at the final 
hearing, Petitioner stated that she seeks relief in the form of back pay in the 
amount of half of her annual salary of $69,000 for 2017, and forward pay in 

the amount of $190,000, for a collective total of $259,000.  
 126. In her responses to Respondent's interrogatories, Petitioner also 
stated that she seeks payment of $20,000 for two years of insurance coverage, 

$600 for TMS treatments, $600 for physician office visits, and $10,000 in 
matching contribution to her 401(k) account. 
 127. In her Proposed Recommended Order, Petitioner requested that she 

be awarded back pay and front pay in the collective amount of $272,000; 
$200,000 in what are termed "compensatory damages"17; and attorney's fees 
and costs. 
V. Findings of Ultimate Fact 

 128. The evidence shows that Petitioner was a well-qualified social 
worker. In addition to being highly skilled, well-trained, and well-educated in 
the social work field and holding an LCSW license, Petitioner obviously was 

well-suited for her employment position, displaying great concern and 
compassion for the residents under her care. 

                                                
17 To the extent Petitioner is requesting an award of non-quantifiable damages such as for 
pain and suffering or emotional distress, such relief is not authorized under section 
760.11(6), which governs remedies that may be awarded in administrative proceedings under 
sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). Inman v. Jian Deng Bao, d/b/a China Gardens Rest., Case 
No. 11-5602 (Fla. DOAH Feb. 16, 2012) modified in part on other grounds, Case No. 2011-
1219 (FCHR Apr. 23, 2012). Broward Cty. v. La Rosa, 505 So. 2d 422, 423-24 (Fla. 
1987)(holding that the ability to award damages for personal injuries in the form of 
humiliation and embarrassment is purely a judicial function, so that an administrative 
entity is not authorized to award damages for such injuries). 
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 129. The evidence establishes that Petitioner is disabled. She has been 
diagnosed by treating physicians with chronic anxiety and depression, which 

are exacerbated by stressful circumstances, which are common in the social 
work field. As a result of these medical conditions, Petitioner is substantially 
limited in the life activity of working. To this point, both of Petitioner's 

treating psychiatrists recommended that she not work due to potential 
exacerbation of her anxiety and depression.  
 130. The evidence also shows that due to staff reductions, increased 

workloads, substandard care provision, and Izquierdo's tough management 
style, working conditions at Chatsworth were so difficult that a reasonable 
individual would have felt compelled to resign. To this point, the evidence 

showed that several staff members did, in fact, resign. 
 131. The evidence does not establish that Izquierdo or anyone else in a 
supervisory position at Chatsworth treated disabled individuals, including 

Petitioner, differently than non-disabled individuals. As noted above, 
Petitioner acknowledged that Izquierdo was hard on everyone and that the 
working conditions were difficult for everyone, not just disabled employees, at 
Chatsworth.  

 132. The evidence does not establish that Izquierdo, Whitt, Stacy, or 
anyone else in a position to take employment action with respect to Petitioner 
knew that she was disabled. Petitioner credibly testified that Izquierdo, 

Whitt, and Stacy knew she was sick and stressed; however, she 
acknowledged that she did not tell anyone at Chatsworth that she was 
disabled, and there is no evidence showing that anyone at Chatsworth 

inferred or surmised that Petitioner was disabled.18  
 133. As further discussed below, the evidence does not establish that 
Respondent failed to provide a "reasonable accommodation" to Petitioner, as 

                                                
18 As noted above, the fact that Stacy received FMLA documentation from Rikhy stating that 
Petitioner was being treated by a psychiatrist is insufficient to show that Stacy knew 
Petitioner was disabled due to anxiety and depression.  
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that term is interpreted under Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") case 
law. Although the persuasive evidence establishes that Petitioner requested 

job-sharing, part-time hours, and intermittent leave, and that her requests 
were not granted, the evidence does not establish that Respondent knew that 
Petitioner was disabled—a necessary element for a determination that 

Respondent failed to provide a reasonable accommodation in violation of the 
ADA and FCRA.  
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
134. DOAH has jurisdiction over the parties to, and subject matter of, this 

proceeding, pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and chapter 760, Florida 

Statutes. 
I. The FCRA  

135. The FCRA is codified at sections 760.01 through 760.11.  

136. Section 760.10(1)(a) states:  
(1) It is an unlawful employment practice for an 
employer: (a) To discharge or to fail or refuse to 
hire any individual, or otherwise to discriminate 
against any individual with respect to 
compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of 
employment, because of such individual’s race, 
color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, age, 
handicap, or marital status. 
 

§ 760.01(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). 
 137. This provision makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate 
against against an employee on the basis of handicap.19  

II. Burden and Standard of Proof 
 138. In cases involving claims of unlawful employment discrimination, the 
burden of proof is on the complainant to establish, by a preponderance of the 

evidence, that the conduct that is the subject of the complaint constitutes 

                                                
19 As discussed herein, case law addressing discrimination on the basis of disability under 
the federal ADA applies to discrimination on the basis of handicap under the FCRA.   
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unlawful discrimination. Equal Employ't Opportunity Comm'n v. Joe's Stone 

Crab, Inc., 220 F.3d 1265, 1273 (11th Cir. 2000). The "preponderance of the 

evidence" standard means the greater weight of the competent substantial 
evidence in the record. Gross v. Lyons, 763 So. 2d 276, 281 n.1 (Fla. 2000).  
III. Pertinent Title VII and ADA Case Law 

 139. The FCRA is modeled after Title VII. Therefore, federal case law 
regarding Title VII discrimination claims is applicable in construing the 
FCRA. Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 21 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2009); Green v. Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999).  
 140. In analyzing a disability discrimination claim under the FCRA, 
courts use the same framework as disability discrimination claims brought 

under the federal ADA. Therefore, case law regarding disability 
discrimination claims under the ADA is applicable to alleged discrimination 
on the basis of handicap/disability under the FCRA. Holly v. Clairson Indus., 

LLC, 492 F.3d 1247, 1255 (11th Cir. 2007); Chanda v. Engelhard/ICC, 234 
F.3d 1219, 1221 (11th Cir. 2000); Redish v. Blair, 2016 WL 9503731 at *3 

(M.D. Fla. 2016); Byrd v. BT Foods, Inc., 948 So. 2d 921, 925 (Fla. 4th DCA 
2007)(as applied to alleged discrimination on the basis of handicap, the FCRA 
is construed in conformity with the ADA).  

Employment Discrimination Analytical Framework  
 141. A prima facie case of employment discrimination may be established 
by direct evidence of discriminatory intent, circumstantial evidence of 

discriminatory intent, or both. Scholz v. RDV Sports, Inc., 710 So. 2d 618, 624 
(Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Although discrimination may be proved by both means, 
the complainant only needs to prove discrimination through one means or the 

other, not both. Hedrick v. Western Reserve Care Sys., 355 F.3d 444, 453 (6th 
Cir. 2004); Kline v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 128 F.3d 337, 348-49 (6th Cir. 1997).  
 142. Direct evidence is evidence which, if believed, proves the existence of 

a fact without inference. Scholz, 710 So. 2d at 624. Thus, statements of an 
employer or its agents can be direct evidence of discrimination. Id.; Miles v. 
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M.N.C. Corp., 750 F.2d 867, 870 (11th Cir. 1985). Only the most blatant 
remarks, whose intent could be nothing other than to discriminate on the 

basis of a protected classification, constitute direct evidence. Rojas v. Fla. 

Dep't of Bus. & Prof'l Reg., 285 F.3d 1339, 1342 n.2 (11th Cir. 2002); Carter v. 

City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 1989). Direct evidence must 

reflect that the adverse employment decision was motivated by the decision 
maker's intent to discriminate. Carper v. TWC Servs., Inc., 820 F.Supp.2d 

1339, 1347-48 (S.D. Fla. 2011). Direct evidence does not include stray 
remarks in the workplace or statements by non-decision makers. Browning v. 

President Riverboat Casino-Missouri, Inc., 139 F.3d 631, 635 (8th Cir. 1998). 

 143. By contrast, circumstantial evidence is evidence that is susceptible to 
more than one reasonable interpretation or inference. E.E.O.C. v. West 

Customer Mgmt. Group, LLC, 899 F.Supp.2d 1241 (N.D. Fla. 2012). In the 

employment discrimination context, evidence that suggests, but does not 
dispositively prove, a discriminatory motive is, by definition, circumstantial 
evidence. Hawthorne v. Baptist Hosp., Inc., 448 Fed.Appx. 965, 967-68 (11th 

Cir. 2011); Burrell v. Bd. of Tr. of Ga. Military Coll., 125 F.3d 1390, 1393-94 
(11th Cir. 1997).  
 144. When bringing a discrimination claim, a complainant may proceed 

under theories of disparate impact, disparate treatment, or both. Joe's Stone 

Crab, Inc., 220 F.3d at 1273.   
 145. Here, Petitioner seeks to establish discrimination on the basis of 

circumstantial evidence, rather than direct evidence.20 

                                                
20 As discussed above, Petitioner testified that upon her return from leave, an employee told 
her that while she was out, staff members discussed her mental health and made bets on 
whether she would return from leave. Petitioner's testimony is hearsay that does not fall 
within any exception to the hearsay rule under section 90.803, Florida Statutes, and there is 
no independent, non-hearsay (i.e., competent) evidence establishing that any such 
discussions or bet-taking took place. There was no competent direct evidence of Respondent's 
discriminatory intent against Petitioner presented.  
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 146. Petitioner alleges that Respondent treated her differently than other 
similarly-situated employees because of her disability. Accordingly, Petitioner 

proceeds under a disparate treatment claim in this proceeding.   
 147. To establish a discrimination claim based on disparate treatment in 
the workplace through circumstantial evidence, Florida and federal courts 

apply the three-part framework established in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. 

Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-04 (1973). St. Louis v. Fla. Int'l Univ., 60 So. 3d 455, 
458-59 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011).  

 148. Under the McDonnell Douglas analytical framework, the 
complainant—here, Petitioner—has the initial burden to establish a prima 
facie case of disparate treatment discrimination on the basis of her disability. 

Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 22. To do so, she must show, by competent evidence, 
that: (1) she belongs to a protected class; (2) she was otherwise qualified for 
her employment position; (3) she was subjected to an adverse employment 

action—here, alleged constructive discharge on the basis of a hostile work 
environment; and (4) the adverse employment action was taken on the basis 
of her disability. Rogers v. CH2M Hill, Inc., 18 F.Supp.2d 1328 (M.D. Ala. 

1998). In proving the fourth element of discrimination, Petitioner must show 
either that Respondent intentionally treated her differently than similarly-
situated employees because of her disability, Lewis v. City of Union City, Ga., 

918 F.3d 1213, 1222 (11th Cir. 2019), or that she was discriminated against 
by Respondent through its failure to provide her a reasonable 
accommodation. Schwertfager v. City of Boynton Beach, 42 F.Supp.2d 1347 

(S.D. Fla. 1999).  
 149. If Petitioner succeeds in establishing a prima facie case of 
discrimination, the burden shifts to Respondent to proffer a legitimate, non-

discriminatory basis for the alleged adverse employment action. St. Johns 

Cty. Sch. Dist. v. O'Brien, 973 So. 2d 535, 541 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). This 
burden is "exceedingly light." Perryman v. Johnson Prods. Co., Inc., 698 F.2d 

1138, 1142 (11th Cir. 1983). As the Eleventh Circuit has stated, "'the 



28 

[employer] need not persuade the court that it was actually motivated by the 
proffered reasons . . . it is sufficient if the [employer's] evidence raises a 

genuine issue of fact as to whether it discriminated against the 
[employee].'" Id. (quoting McDonnell Douglas Corp., 411 U.S. at 802). "At this 
stage of the inquiry, the [employer] need not persuade the court that its 

proffered reasons are legitimate; the [employer's] burden is 'merely one of 
production, not proof.'" Id. (quoting Lee v. Russell Cty. Bd. of Educ., 684 F.2d 
769, 773 (11th Cir. 1982)). 

 150. If Respondent rebuts Petitioner's prima facie case, then the burden 
shifts back to Petitioner to show that Respondent's proffered explanation is 
merely a pretext for discrimination—i.e., that a discriminatory reason more 

likely motivated Respondent's adverse employment action. Id. 
Disability 
 151. In pertinent part, the ADA defines a "disability" as a physical or 

mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of an individual's 
major life activities. O'Brien, 973 So. 2d at 541.   
 152. Depression and anxiety are mental impairments that can constitute 

disabilities, provided they substantially limit one or more life activities. 
Pritchard v. The S. Co. Servs., 92 F.3d 1130, 1132 (11th Cir. 1996); 
Santandreu v. Miami-Dade Cty., 2011 WL 13136161, at *5 (S.D. Fla. 2011); 

O'Connor v. Huntington U.S.F.D., 2014 WL 1233038 at *12 (E.D.N.Y. 2014).  
 153. "Major life activities" are defined as functions such as caring for 
oneself, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, 

breathing, learning, and working. Gordon v. E.L. Hamm & Assocs., Inc.,  
100 F.3d 907, 911 (11th Cir. 1996).   
 154. In determining whether an impairment substantially limits a major 

life activity, courts consider the following factors: (1) the nature and severity 
of the impairment; (2) the duration or expected duration of the impairment; 
and (3) the permanent or long term impact resulting from the impairment. 

Id.  
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 155. The burden is on the party asserting one or more impairments to 
establish that such impairments substantially limit one or more life 

activities. Pritchard, 92 F.3d at 1132; Santandreu, 2011 WL 13136161 at *5; 
Richio v. Miami-Dade Cty., 163 F.Supp.2d 1352, 1360 (S.D. Fla. 2001); 
Crawford v. AT&T, 177 F. Supp.2d 1293, 1300 (N.D. Ga. 2000).   

Employer's Knowledge of Disability 
156. The ADA—and, by extension, the FCRA—prohibits discrimination in 

employment against a qualified individual because of a disability in any of 

the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment. Morisky v. Broward Cty., 
80 F.3d 445, 447 (11th Cir. 1996). Stated another way, before an employer 
can discriminate against an employee because of that employee's disability, 

the employer must know of that disability. Lewis v. Zilog, Inc., 908 F.Supp. 
931, 948 (N.D. Ga. 1995). 

157. Courts have held that an employee can meet the fourth element of a  

prima facie case of handicap or disability discrimination by proving that the 
employer had actual or constructive knowledge of the employee's disability. 
Morisky, 80 F.3d at 448; Hedberg v. Indiana Bell Tel. Co., 47 F.3d 928 (7th 

Cir. 1995).   
158. However, to meet the requirement that the employer know of the 

disability, it is insufficient to show that an employer might, or should, have 

known of the employee's disability. Morisky, 80 F.3d at 448; Hedberg, 47 F.3d 
at 932; Santandreu, 2011 WL 13136161 at *21; Clapp v. N. Cumberland 

Mem. Hosp., 964 F.Supp. 503, 505 (D. Me. 1997). 
159. Moreover, knowing that an employee has health problems is not the 

same as knowing that the employee suffers from a disability. Boadi v. Ctr. for 

Human Dev., Inc., 239 F.Supp.3d 333, 351 (D. Mass. 2017); Brown v. BKW 

Drywall Supply, Inc., 305 F.Supp.2d 814, 829 (S.D. Ohio 2004). Statements 
revealing an unspecified incapacity are not sufficient to put an employer on 

notice that an employee has a disability as defined in the ADA. Morisky, 80 
F.3d at 448. Additionally, simply informing an employer of a particular 
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condition is not tantamount to providing the employer with knowledge that 
the employee is substantially limited in some major life activity. Boadi, 239 

F.3d at 351-52; DiBlasi v. Liberty Mut. Grp., Inc. 2014 WL 1331056 at *15.   
 160. An employer is not obligated to infer the presence of a disability from 
an employee's extended absence from work and the knowledge that she was 

in a stressful situation. See, e.g., Miller v. Nat'l Cas. Co., 61 F.3d 627, 630 
(8th Cir. 1995).  
 161. Similarly, requesting and taking FMLA leave is insufficient to place 

an employer on notice that an employee is disabled. Corning v. LodgeNet 

Interactive Corp., 896 F.Supp.2d 1138, 1148 (M.D. Fla. 2012).   
Qualified Individual 

 162. Under the ADA, a qualified individual with a disability is an 
individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable accommodation, 
can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such 

individual holds or desires. 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8); Santrandreu v. Miami-Dade 

Cty., 513 Fed.Appx. 902, 905 (11th Cir. 2013).   
Disparate Treatment 

 163. A person suffers "disparate treatment" in his or her employment, in 
violation of Title VII—and, by extension, the FCRA—when he or she is 
singled out and treated less favorably, on the basis of his or her status as a 

member of a protected class—here, on the basis of disability—than other 
employees who are otherwise similarly situated in all relevant respects. 
James v. City of Montgomery, 2020 WL 4464249 at *4 (11th Cir. Aug. 4, 

2020); Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 23; Johnson v. Great Expressions Dental Ctrs. 

of Fla., P.A., 132 So. 3d 1174, 1176 (Fla. 3d DCA 2014).  

 164. For comparators to be similarly situated, they do not have to be 
"nearly identical," but, rather, need only be similarly situated in all material 
respects. James, 2020 WL 4464249, at *4. This benchmark has been 

interpreted to mean that as long as the distinctions between the complainant 
and the proposed comparators are not so significant that they render the 
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comparison useless, the "similarly-situated" requirement is satisfied. Lewis v. 

City of Union City, Ga., 918 F.3d 1213, 1218 (11th Cir. 2019).  

Reasonable Accommodation 
 165. The ADA imposes on employers the duty to provide reasonable  
accommodations for known disabilities, unless doing so would constitute an 

undue hardship to the employer. Rogers, 18 F.Supp.2d 1328. Thus, one way 
to prove discrimination on the basis of disability is to show that the employer 

failed to provide a reasonable accommodation that was requested by the 
employee. Schwertfager v. City of Boynton Beach, 42 F.Supp.2d 1347 (S.D. 
Fla. 1999).   

 166. To establish a claim of failure to reasonably accommodate a 
disability, a complainant employee must prove that: (1) he or she has a 
disability; (2) the employer knew of the disability; (3) with a reasonable 
accommodation, he or she could perform the essential functions of the 

employment position; and (4) the employer refused to make such 
accommodation. Stone v. City of Mount Vernon, 118 F.3d 92, 96-97 (2d Cir. 
1997). 

 167. An employer must provide reasonable accommodations for employees 
with known disabilities unless the accommodation would cause undue 
hardship to the employer. Earl v. Mervyns, Inc., 207 F.3d 1361, 1365 (11th 

Circ. 2000).  
 168. A reasonable accommodation is defined as “[m]odifications or 
adjustments to the work environment, or to the manner of circumstances 

under which the position held or desired is customarily performed, that 
enable an individual with a disability who is qualified to perform the 
essential functions of that position." Atwell v. Indianapolis-Marion Cty. 

Forensic Servs. Ag., 168 F.Supp.3d 1125, 1140 (S.D. Ind. 2016), quoting 20 
C.F.R. § 1630.2(o)(1)(ii).  

 169. The use of the word "reasonable" as an adjective modifying the word 
"accommodate" connotes that the employer is not required to accommodate 
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an employee in any manner in which that employee desires. Stewart v. 

Happy Herman's Cheshire Bridge, Inc., 117 F.3d 1278, 1285 (11th Cir. 1997).  

Merely showing that an employer denied a requested accommodation is not 
sufficient; the complainant must show that the requested accommodation 
was reasonable. Reasonable accommodations have been held to include job 

restructuring, part-time or modified work schedules, and reassignment to a 
vacant position. Id.  
 170. An accommodation is presumed reasonable unless the employer 

shows that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship. Lamb v. 

Qualex, Inc., 33 Fed.Appx. 49, 59 (4th Cir. 2002). Determining whether an 
accommodation would constitute an undue hardship requires consideration of 

the nature and cost of the requested accommodation and the overall impact of 
the accommodation on the employer. This inquiry is fact-specific to the 
employer. Donelson v. Providence Health & Servs.-Wa., 823 F.Supp.2d 1179, 

1190 (E.D. Wa. 2011). An employer is not required to make fundamental 
alterations in its business to comply with the "reasonable" accommodation 
requirement; however, an employer may not simply reject an employee's 

request without explaining the basis for such rejection or refusing to work 
with the employee to craft a reasonable accommodation. Atwell,  
168 F.Supp. 3d at 1143. 

Retaliation 
 171. To establish a prima facie claim for retaliation under Title VII, and, 
by extension, the FCRA, the complainant must demonstrate that: (1) he or 

she engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) he or she suffered an adverse 
employment action; and (3) the adverse employment action was the result of 
the complainant's engagement in statutorily protected activity. Palm Beach 

Cty. Sch. Bd. v. Wright, 217 So. 3d 163, 165 (Fla. 4th DCA 2017). 
Hostile Work Environment 
 172. Title VII—and, by extension, the FCRA—does not serve as a "general 

civility code." See Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775, 788 (1999). 
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To that point, the statute only addresses those situations where an 
employee's work environment is permeated with discriminatory intimidation, 

ridicule, and insult. Harris v. Forklift Sys., Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993).  
 173. To establish the existence of a hostile work environment on the basis 
of disability, a complainant must prove the following: (1) he or she is a 

qualified individual with a disability; (2) he or she was subjected to 
unwelcome harassment; (3) the harassment was based on his or her 
disability; and (4) the harassment was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter 

a term, condition, or privilege of employment. Schwertfager, 42 F.Supp.2d at 
1366; see Fox v. Gen. Motors Corp., 247 F.3d 169, 177 (4th Cir. 2001); Razner 

v. Wellington Reg'l Med Ctr., Inc., 837 So. 2d 437, 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). 

Of vital importance is that the alleged harassment or abusive conduct must 
be directed toward the recipient on the basis of that person's disability. 
Schwertfager, 42 F.Supp.2d at 1367.  

 174. To be actionable, the work environment must be both objectively and 
subjectively offensive. Harris, 510 U.S. at 21-22; Schwertfager, 42 F.Supp.2d 
at 1366.  

Constructive Discharge 
175. Under Title VII—and, by extension, the FCRA—"constructive 

discharge" occurs when a discriminatory employer deliberately imposes 

working conditions that are so intolerable that a reasonable person in the 
employee's position would be, or was, compelled to resign. Fitz v. Pugmire 

Lincoln-Mercury, Inc., 348 F.3d 974, 977 (11th Cir. 2003); Olson v. Dex 

Imaging, Inc., 63 F.Supp.3d 1353, 1358 (M.D. Fla. 2014). 
176. As discussed above, the evidence showed that the working conditions 

at Chatsworth were so difficult that a reasonable person would have felt 
compelled to resign.  
IV. Petitioner's Discrimination Claims 

 177. Pursuant to the foregoing legal principles and Findings of Fact, 
following are the conclusions regarding Petitioner's discrimination claims.
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Petitioner's Disability   
 178. As found above, the evidence establishes that Petitioner has been 

diagnosed by treating physicians with chronic anxiety and depression, which 
are exacerbated by stressful circumstances, and that such conditions are 
common in the social work field. The evidence establishes that as a result of 

the medical conditions of anxiety and depression, Petitioner is substantially 
limited in the life activity of working. Accordingly, it is concluded that 
Petitioner is disabled for purposes of the ADA. See Pritchard at 1134 

(depression that prevents a person from working in that person's chosen field 
due to due to physical and mental symptoms can constitute a disability under 
the ADA).  

Petitioner was a Qualified Individual 
 179. As discussed above, a qualified individual with a disability is an 
individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable accommodation, 

can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such 
individual holds or desires. 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8); Santrandreu, 513 Fed.Appx. 
at 905.  

 180. As found above, Petitioner was a qualified individual while employed 
at Chatsworth. She was capable of performing, and performed, the functions 
of her employment position as a social worker at a very high level of 

proficiency.  
Respondent's Knowledge of Petitioner's Disability 
 181. As discussed above, for an employer to be liable for a claim of 

employment discrimination against an employee on the basis of disability, 
the employer must know of the disability. Morisky, 80 F.3d at 447; Lewis, 908 
F.Supp. at 948. As noted above, knowledge of an employee's health issues is 

not the same as knowing that an employee suffers from a disability. To this 
point, informing an employer of a particular medical condition is not 
tantamount to providing the employer with knowledge that the employee is 
substantially limited in some major life activity. Boadi, 239 F.Supp.3d 333. 
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Requesting and taking FMLA leave also is insufficient to place an employer 
on notice that an employee is disabled. Corning, 896 F. Supp. 2d at 1148; 

Miller, 61 F.3d 627.  
 182. As found above, the evidence does not establish that Respondent— 
through Izquierdo, Whitt, Stacy, or any agents or staff members at 

Chatsworth—knew that Petitioner was disabled.  
 183. Petitioner persuasively testified that she told Izquierdo and Whitt 
that she was stressed and sick, and she believed that from her outward 

appearance, others, including Izquierdo and Whitt knew that she was 
stressed and sick. However, the evidence showed that many Chatsworth 
employees—not just Petitioner—were stressed due to the difficult working 

conditions. Importantly, Petitioner never specifically told Izquierdo, Whitt, 
Stacy, or anyone else at Chatsworth that she had a disability.  
 184. Additionally, there is no evidence showing that Stacy—who was the 

only person shown to be privy to Petitioner's completed FMLA Certification 
form containing the specific information regarding Petitioner's treatment by 
Rikhy—knew that Petitioner's condition constituted a disability or told 

anyone that Petitioner had a disability.   
185. Accordingly, it is concluded that Respondent did not know that 

Petitioner was disabled during the time she was employed at Chatsworth. 

See Boadi, 239 F.3d at 351-52; Morisky, 80 F.3d at 448; Miller 61 F.3d at 630; 
Hedberg, 47 F.3d at 932; Santandreu, 2011 WL 13136161 at *21; DiBlasi, 

2014 WL 1331056 at *15; Corning, 896 F.Supp.2d at 1148; Brown, 305 

F.Supp.2d at 829 (S.D. Ohio 2004); Clapp v. N. Cumberland Mem. Hosp., 964 
F.Supp. at 505. 
Employment Discrimination on the Basis of Handicap under the FCRA 

 186. As discussed above, cases interpreting the ADA are applicable to 
claims brought under the FCRA alleging employment discrimination on the 
basis of disability. 
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 187. As noted above, here, Petitioner proceeds under a claim of disparate 
treatment on the basis of disability and seeks to rely on circumstantial 

evidence to demonstrate such claim. Accordingly, the McDonnell Douglas 
analytical framework applies to Petitioner's claim.  

188. To prevail under the McDonnell Douglas test, Petitioner must show, 

by competent evidence, that she belongs to a protected class—here, that she 
is disabled; that she was otherwise qualified for her employment position; 
that she was subjected to an adverse employment action—here, alleged 

constructive discharge on the basis of a hostile work environment; and that 
the adverse employment action was taken on the basis of her disability.  

189. As found and concluded above, Petitioner is disabled, and, therefore, 

belongs to a protected class under the FCRA.  
190. Additionally, as found and concluded above, Petitioner was otherwise 

qualified for her employment position. 

191. However, Petitioner did not establish that she was constructively 
discharged on the basis of a hostile work environment. As discussed in detail 
below, to prevail on a hostile work environment claim, Petitioner must show 

she was subjected to harassment in the work place on the basis of her 

disability. This necessarily requires that Respondent know of Petitioner's 
disability. See Schwertfager, 42 F.Supp.2d at 1366. 

192. As discussed above, the evidence does not establish that Izquierdo, 
Whitt, Stacy, or anyone in a supervisory or management position at 
Chatsworth, knew that Petitioner was disabled.21 Thus, Petitioner has not 

met her burden to prove that because of her disability, she was subjected to 
such difficult working conditions that she was driven to resign.  

                                                
21 Petitioner contends that Fitos was effectively an agent of, or proxy for, Chatsworth in 
urging her to resign. However, there was no persuasive evidence establishing that Fitos 
acted on Chatsworth's behalf in any of her dealings with Petitioner, including in drafting 
Petitioner's resignation letter. Moreover, there was no evidence presented showing that Fitos 
knew that Petitioner was disabled.    
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193. To this point, to the extent Petitioner and Izquierdo may have had 
disagreements from time to time, the evidence shows that they likely were 

due to Petitioner's persistence in advocating for the rights of the residents in 
her care in the face of what she perceived as a corporate culture that 
tolerated, or even encouraged, the provision of substandard care. In any 

event, the evidence does not establish that Izquierdo knew of Petitioner's 
disability such that she intentionally subjected Petitioner to harassment and 
difficult working conditions on that basis.  

194. For this same reason (i.e., that the evidence does not establish 
Respondent's knowledge of Petitioner's disability), Petitioner also failed to 
show that the adverse employment action—here, constructive discharge—

was made on the basis of her disability. Simply stated, Respondent could not 
have subjected Petitioner to difficult working conditions with the aim of 
forcing her to resign on the basis of her disability unless Respondent knew 

that she was disabled.   
195. The evidence also did not show that Petitioner was treated differently 

than other non-disabled Chatsworth employees who were otherwise similarly 

situated. In fact, the evidence showed that the difficult working conditions at 
Chatsworth were pervasive and affected numerous employees, several of 
whom resigned. To this point, there was no evidence presented that any of 

the other employees who resigned (such as Zelles and Prosser) due to the 
difficult working conditions were disabled. Thus, the evidence does not 
establish that Petitioner was subjected to disparate treatment compared to 

non-disabled employees at Chatsworth. 
196. The evidence also does not show that Respondent took adverse 

employment action against Petitioner on the basis of her disability by failing 

to provide a reasonable accommodation that she requested.  
 197. In order to show that Respondent did not reasonably accommodate 
her disability, Petitioner must prove that Respondent's agents—i.e., 
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Izquierdo, Whitt, Stacy, or others in supervisory positions—knew of her 
disability.  

 198. As discussed above, the persuasive evidence showed that Petitioner 
requested job-sharing, intermittent leave, and part-time employment, and 
that these requests were either ignored or refused. However, the evidence 

does not establish that Respondent's agents knew of Petitioner's disability 
such that they made the purposeful decision not to afford her a reasonable 
accommodation of her disability.  

 199. Accordingly, it is concluded that Petitioner did not establish, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, a prima facie case of discrimination on the 
basis of disability/handicap under the FCRA.   

Retaliation  
 200. Petitioner also contends that Respondent retaliated against her for 
taking FMLA leave, and for assertively advocating for the wellbeing of the 

residents at Chatsworth. According to Respondent, this retaliation took the 
form of constant criticism, an excessive workload, and additional job-related 
responsibilities in areas for which she previously had not been responsible. 

 201. The Petition for Relief appears to allege "retaliation" in the colloquial 
sense, rather than alleging facts establishing a legal claim for retaliation that 
is actionable under section 760.10(7). To this point, the Petition for Relief 
alleges that Respondent suspended her for requesting leave and increasing 

her workload after she returned from leave. Although these allegations, if 
proven, may establish the existence of a hostile work environment, they do 
not establish that Petitioner engaged in one or more of the protected 

activities enumerated in section 760.10(7), giving rise to an actionable claim 
for retaliation under that statute.  
 202. To prevail in a retaliation claim under section 760.10(7), Petitioner 

must allege and prove that she opposed an unlawful employment practice or 
made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an 
investigation, proceeding, or hearing under section 760.10. 
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 203. As found above, there was no evidence presented showing that 
Petitioner opposed or reported what she perceived as an unlawfully 

discriminatory employment practice by Izquierdo or by any other employee of 
Chatsworth, either to Chatsworth management through various measures 
provided, such as the anonymous hotline, or by reporting alleged 

discriminatory conduct to FCHR or the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission.  
 204. Accordingly, Petitioner has not alleged or proved that Respondent 

retaliated against her in violation of section 760.10(7).  
Hostile Work Environment 
 205. To establish the existence of a hostile work environment on the basis 

of disability, Petitioner must prove that she is a qualified individual with a 
disability; that she was subjected to unwelcome harassment; that the 
harassment was based on her disability; and the harassment was sufficiently 

severe or pervasive to alter a term, condition, or privilege of her employment. 
 206. As discussed above, the evidence shows that Petitioner is a qualified 
individual with a disability. 
 207. The evidence also establishes that Petitioner was subject to 

unwelcome harassment, which took the form of unsolicited telephone calls 
from Chatsworth employees and patients while she was on FMLA leave; 
extremely difficult working conditions at Chatsworth, in which employees 

were under significant stress and feared for their jobs; and a substantially 
increased workload after her return from leave.22  

                                                
22 In support of its argument that Petitioner's job responsibilities did not change upon her 
return from FMLA leave, Respondent points out that Petitioner's job duties before she went 
on leave included dealing with insurance matters. However, this disregards that the amount 
of work with which Petitioner was shouldered increased substantially as a result of her 
department having been reduced by one and a half staff positions. This thrust Petitioner into 
the position of having an increased amount of insurance matters with which to deal—an area 
that was fraught with difficulty for Petitioner due to a constantly broken facsimile machine 
and having inadequate access and training regarding completing insurance documentation 
on the computer.   



40 

 208. The evidence establishes that the harassment in the form of 
Petitioner's substantially increased workload after her return from FMLA 

leave—in which she was effectively forced to shoulder the workload of two 
and a half people—was sufficiently severe to alter a term or condition of her 
employment.   

209. However, the evidence did not show that Petitioner was subjected to 
harassment on the basis of her disability. To this point, as discussed above, 
the competent, persuasive evidence does not establish that Izquierdo, Whitt, 

Stacy, or anyone in a position of employment authority over Petitioner knew 
that she was disabled. Accordingly, Respondent could not have subjected 
Petitioner to harassment on the basis of her disability if its agents did not 

know that Petitioner was disabled. See Schwertfager, 42 F.Supp.2d at 1366.  
 210. For these reasons, it is concluded that the evidence does not establish 
that Petitioner was subjected to a hostile work environment on the basis of 

her disability, in violation of section 760.10.  
Constructive Discharge  
 211. Petitioner contends that based on her disability, Izquierdo, as her 

supervisor, deliberately made her working conditions intolerable to force her 
to resign from her employment at Chatsworth.  
 212. As discussed in detail above, the credible, persuasive evidence 

establishes that the working conditions at Chatsworth were extremely 
difficult and stressful, to the point that several employees resigned. Thus, the 
evidence establishes that the circumstances at Chatsworth were, objectively 

and subjectively, so difficult that several employees, including Petitioner, felt 
compelled to resign.  

213. However, to prevail on a claim for constructive discharge on the basis 
of disability under the FCRA, Petitioner must show that Respondent, 

through its agents—here, Izquierdo—knew that she (Petitioner) was disabled 
such that she was subjected to the extremely difficult working conditions on 

the basis of her disability.  
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214. As discussed above, the evidence does not establish that Izquierdo or 
any other Chatsworth employees knew that Petitioner was disabled. 

Accordingly, it cannot be concluded that Petitioner was constructively 
discharged from Chatsworth on the basis of her disability in violation of Title 
VII. See Hall v. Dougherty Cty. Sch. Sys., 2017 WL 3584908 at *6 (M.D. Ga. 

2017)(even if a complainant suffers such intolerable working conditions that 
he or she is compelled to resign, Title VII does not provide a remedy unless he 
or she is able to prove that he or she was subjected to such working 

conditions on the basis of being in a protected class).  
Conclusion 
 215. As discussed above, the evidence clearly establishes that Petitioner 

was a highly qualified social worker who, along with other employees, was 
subjected to extremely difficult working conditions at Chatsworth. The  
evidence also shows that these difficult working conditions exacerbated 

Petitioner's anxiety and depression—which are disabilities that substantially 
limit her ability to work—and that as a result of these difficult working 
conditions, Petitioner felt compelled to resign in order to preserve her health. 

216. However, at bottom, the evidence does not establish that Respondent  
knew that Petitioner was disabled during the time she was employed at 
Chatsworth.  

 217. Therefore, it cannot be concluded that Respondent engaged in any 
unlawful employment practices against Petitioner on the basis of her 
disability, in violation of the FCRA. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 
RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations dismiss the 

Petition for Relief filed in this proceeding on February 18, 2019. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 14th day of September, 2020, in Tallahassee, 
Leon County, Florida. 

S  
CATHY M. SELLERS 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 14th day of September, 2020. 
 
 

 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-7020 
(eServed) 
 
Tyree Ayers, Esquire 
Erickson Living 
701 Maiden Choice Lane 
Baltimore, Maryland  21228 
 
Kenneth P. Carman, Esquire 
Carman, Beauchamp, Sang & Gonzales P.A. 
3335 Northwest Boca Raton Boulevard 
Boca Raton, Florida  33431-6623 
(eServed) 
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Naveen Paul, Esquire 
Jackson Lewis, PC 
One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3500 
Two South Biscayne Boulevard,   
Miami, Florida  33131 
(eServed) 
 
Paul F. Penichet, Esquire 
Jackson Lewis P.C. 
One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3500 
Two South Biscayne Boulevard 
Miami, Florida  33131 
(eServed) 
 
Cheyenne Costilla, General Counsel  
Florida Commission on Human Relations  
4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110  
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-7020  
(eServed) 
 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 15 days from 
the date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions to this Recommended 
Order should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this 
case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

WILLIE SCOTT,

Petitioner,

vs.

CIRCLE K. STATIONS,

Respondent.
                                                                    /

Case No. 20-2272

RECOMMENDED ORDER OF DISMISSAL

Pursuant to notice, this case was heard on September 15, 2020, via the Zoom 
Conference platform, before Robert J. Telfer III, a designated Administrative Law 
Judge (ALJ) of the Division of Administrative Hearings (Division).

APPEARANCES

For Petitioner:        No Appearance
For Respondent:     Brian L. Hayden, Esquire

Jackson Lewis PC
501 Riverside Avenue, Suite 902
Jacksonville, Florida  32202

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether Respondent Circle K Stations (Circle K) was responsible for employment 
discrimination as alleged in the Petition for Relief filed by Petitioner Willie Scott; 
and, if so, the appropriate penalty.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On May 11, 2020, Mr. Scott filed a Petition for Relief with the Florida Commission 
on Human Relations (FCHR), which alleged that Circle K had engaged in a 
discriminatory employment practice, in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act 
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(FCRA). That same date, FCHR transmitted the Petition for Relief to the Division for 
assignment of an ALJ.

On June 23, 2020, the ALJ assigned to this matter entered a Notice of Hearing by 
Zoom Conference, scheduling the final hearing in this matter for September 15, 2020, 
at 9:00 a.m. On July 16, 2020, this matter was transferred to the undersigned ALJ, 
as indicated in a Notice of Transfer. On August 3, 2020, the undersigned entered an 
Amended Notice of Hearing by Zoom Conference, which altered the log-in 
information for the Zoom Conference, but otherwise kept in place the date of 
September 15, 2020, for the final hearing.

Leading up to the final hearing, the Division made arrangements for Mr. Scott to 
attend the final hearing, via the Zoom Conference platform, at the Gainesville Office 
of the Judge of Compensation Claims (Gainesville JCC). Mr. Scott did not file or 
exchange a witness list, pursuant to the June 23, 2020, Order of Pre-hearing 
Instructions. Additionally, Mr. Scott did not file proposed exhibits with the 
undersigned, pursuant to the Amended Notice of Hearing. Respondent timely filed 
and served its exhibit list and proposed exhibits.

The final hearing was convened at 9:00 a.m., on September 15, 2020, as noticed. 
No one appeared on behalf of Mr. Scott. Counsel for Respondent appeared. A court 
reporter was in attendance. The undersigned granted a 30-minute recess to allow for 
an appearance by Mr. Scott. During this 30-minute recess, the Division was in 
contact with officials in the Gainesville JCC, who indicated that Mr. Scott was not at 
that office. The Division also attempted to contact Mr. Scott, and left a voice-mail. 
The Division did not receive any returned mail that it had sent to Mr. Scott, and at 
the time of the final hearing, Mr. Scott had not requested a continuance.

The final hearing was reconvened at 9:30 a.m., without an appearance by
Mr. Scott. The final hearing was thereafter adjourned.
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Given the burden of proof as discussed herein, post-hearing submittals were 
determined to be unnecessary.

References to statutes are to Florida Statutes (2019), unless otherwise indicated.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Mr. Scott timely filed a Petition for Relief with FCHR, which alleged that his 
employer, Circle K, had engaged in a discriminatory employment practice.

2. After filing the Petition for Relief, Mr. Scott failed to comply with the Initial 
Order, Order of Pre-hearing Instructions, or the Amended Notice of Hearing by Zoom 
Conference, and failed to appear at the final hearing.

3. Based on Mr. Scott’s failure to appear and offer evidence, there is no 
evidentiary basis on which findings can be made regarding his allegations of 
employment discrimination.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

4. The Division has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties to this 
proceeding, in accordance with sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11(7), Florida 
Statutes. See also Fla. Admin. Code R. 60Y-4.016 (providing that upon a petition for 
relief from an unemployment practice, a hearing shall be conducted by an ALJ).

5. The burden of proof in an administrative proceeding is on Mr. Scott as the 
complainant. See Dep’t of Banking & Fin., Div. of Sec. & Investor Prot. v. Osborne 

Stern & Co., 670 So. 2d 932, 935 (Fla. 1996) (“The general rule is that a party 
asserting the affirmative of an issue has the burden of presenting evidence as to that 
issue.”). To show a violation of the FCRA, Mr. Scott must establish, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, a prima facie case of discrimination. See St. Louis v. 

Fla. Int’l Univ., 60 So. 3d 455, 458-59 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011) (reversing jury verdict 
award on FCRA racial discrimination and retaliation claims where employee failed to 
show similarly situated employees outside his protected class were treated more 



4

favorably). A “prima facie” case means it is legally sufficient to establish a fact or 
that a violation happened unless disproved.

6. Mr. Scott failed to meet his burden of proof.

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 
RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations issue a final order 
dismiss Willie Scott’s Petition for Relief.

DONE AND ENTERED this 18th day of September, 2020, in Tallahassee, Leon 
County, Florida.

S  
ROBERT J. TELFER III
Administrative Law Judge
Division of Administrative Hearings
The DeSoto Building
1230 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060
(850) 488-9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847
www.doah.state.fl.us

Filed with the Clerk of the
Division of Administrative Hearings
this 18th day of September, 2020.

COPIES FURNISHED:

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk
Florida Commission on Human Relations
Room 110
4075 Esplanade Way
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-7020
(eServed)
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Brian L. Hayden, Esquire
Jackson Lewis P.C.
Suite 902
501 Riverside Avenue
Jacksonville, Florida  32202
(eServed)

Willie Scott
Post Office Box 867
Hastings, Florida  32145

Benjamin D. Sharkey, Esquire
Jackson Lewis P.C.
Suite 902
501 Riverside Avenue
Jacksonville, Florida  32202
(eServed)

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel
Florida Commission on Human Relations
Room 110
4075 Esplanade Way
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-7020
(eServed)

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 15 days from the date 
of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions to this Recommended Order should be 
filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.
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